
Compiled Questions for Theater Space RFP 

7/8/19 

Q1) Will teaming be allowed? Will this be award to one organization or a group? 
This will be awarded to one main organization, who will hold the lease, but the main 
organization can work with other organizations. If the main organization would like to include 
information about the other organizations in the application, that is fine. The main organization 
should be the applicant and be a desirable tenant based on their details. If they want to include 
the information about collaborative organizations in their application, that is great, but the main 
organization should have the financial backing and experience to make them a desirable 
candidate. Also see Q47 and Q58. 

Q2) How large (seating capacity) is the space and the characteristics of the facility to 
facilitate theatre?  
Please refer to the CAD/PDF files that show the layout and dimensions of the space. The 
application asks each organization to complete a sample fit out including their proposed 
performance space. Seating capacity will be determined by each organization’s individual 
seating configurations.  

Q3) Will this be a sort of reduced priced lease in the form of a grant? 
Please refer to page 18 in the RFP which details that the applicant should submit their desired 
rent.  

Q4) In reference to the RFP, will Teaming be allowed on this venture (i.e. multiple theatres 
coming together as a collective tenant on the space and working jointly on the 
proposal?) or will theatre proposals be evaluated individually (i.e. only one theatre may 
submit a plan at a time and teammates will not be considered as part of the final 
evaluation process)?   
See Q1. Proposal will be evaluated based the main organization, but the groups they want to 
work with will be taken into consideration. 

Q5) What is the ceiling height? 
The ceiling height can be extended up to 20’ in the area where there is the courtyard above. In 
the CAD/PDF files, Sheet A204 shows the courtyard.  Sheet A203 is the ground floor. 
Respondents can use the CAD files and PDF of both and can overlay one on top of another to 
show the area of opportunity. 
  
Q6) The lease is 10 years, renewable to a maximum of 15 years. What options will exist at 
the 15-year mark? Renewal? Purchase? Or will PN Hoffman seek to reclaim the space? 
A determination regarding the end of the lease term will be evaluated after the lease is signed, 
closer to the end of the lease term. 

Q7) Upon selection what is the assumed timeline for lease negotiation and finalization? 
Although we don’t have a hard and fast deadline to execute a lease, we anticipate that 
negotiations would take place in the fall and that we would have an agreement in place by the 
1st quarter of 2020. 
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Q8) What is the process and timeline foreseen for accessing the tenant improvement 
allowance? 
This will be negotiated during the lease negotiations (post selection). 

Q9) What is the process and timeline foreseen for occupancy? 
It is anticipated that the project will commence construction in the 4th quarter of 2020 and deliver 
the retail (theater) space in a shell condition ready for tenant fit out in summer of 2022. 

Q10) Does the cultural space use condition regarding the award of the parcel to PN 
Hoffman continue in perpetuity?  
The project reserves 9,000 square feet of the ground floor for a theater or similar performing 
arts venue, or if such a use cannot be secured within five years after the first Certificate of 
Occupancy for the project, any use in the entertainment/assembly/performing arts, arts/design/
creation, or arts-related educational use categories. 

Q11) Obtaining a liquor license for the lobby bar/concessions would be an important part 
of our business plan. Will PN Hoffman support us in this? 
This would be evaluated based on the context of each proposal. 

Q12) What is the programmed use for the roof space above the theater, labeled 
“courtyard"? 
The courtyard is an amenity space for the apartment residents. 

Q13)  “Facility” section of RFP states: “The minimum clear height of the structure in the 
tenant premises varies.” Can PN Hoffman provide more specific information regarding 
ceiling height (or ceiling height range) for various sections of the premises?  
See Q5. 

Q14)  Is column location within the theater space fixed, or is there some flexibility? If it is 
not yet fixed, is there a deadline for when it must be fixed? 
There is some flexibility on the column spacing. This flexibility will wane when we start design 
development documents (anticipated in September of this year). 
 
Q15) Is there any storage space included as part of the Cultural Facility’s space?  
There is no additional space available for use by the lessee beyond the 9,000 sq ft space.  If 
your organization needs storage space that space should be factored into to your fit out of the 
space. 

Q16) For the portion of the Cultural Facility that is directly under the ‘courtyard’ amenity, 
is there any possibility of including skylight/s to convey natural light?  
We would accept proposals that incorporate skylights but the applicants need to consider that 
the designs cannot conflict with the functionality of the residential building above and there is 
probably very limited opportunity for this type of design element. 

Q17) With trash and trash compactor areas in close proximity to Cultural Use space, will 
PN Hoffman take precautions to soundproof adjoining walls?  
All demising partitions will be built to code.  Any additional soundproofing would be part of the 
tenant fit-out. Also see Q60.  
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Q18) Will tenant be able to designate desired location for doors communicating to 
Egress/Service Corridor?  
Yes.  The tenant will have the opportunity to request a door location between the premises and 
the Egress/Service Corridor.  This opportunity will be during the design phase of the building.  

Q19) Facility/Electrical:  Can PN Hoffman identify where the electrical demark is? This 
will allow us to budget more precisely.  
The building main electrical room is in the parking garage nearest the Private Drive and 
between columns lines 1 and 3.  Conduit will be provided from the main electrical room to a 
location in the retail premises. The tenant will decide the location of their electrical panel as part 
of their fit out. 

Q20) Facility/Mechanical:  Can PN Hoffman identify where the outside air plenum duct 
will be?  
Outside air return and exhaust will be determined during the design of the building but is 
anticipated to occur at a louver above the storefront. 

Q21) Can installation of the pipe grid (suspended from theater ceilings to hang lights/
sound instruments) be included in the ceiling design and pour, integrated with sprinkler 
layout, and to ensure necessary structural strength? 
The design of the concrete ceiling above is not complete.  Any equipment hung from the ceiling 
will have to be evaluated by the building structural engineer.  This will be negotiated during the 
lease negotiations (post selection).  The sprinkler layout provided by the landlord will meet code 
for a cold dark shell delivery.  Any tenant specific modification will be part of the tenant fit out. 

Q22) What kind of waterproof membrane, if any, will be included above the part of the 
Cultural Facility roof space that serves as a Courtyard? 
The design of the waterproofing membrane is not complete but will meet professional practice 
standards for waterproofing above an occupied space. 

Q23) Can signage include entrance marquee, video screen/s, and signage and/or video at 
sidewalk level on 4th Street?  For a public-facing cultural facility prominent signage is 
essential for visibility and way-finding.  
The design of the signage will be at the Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion.  Any primary ID 
signage and tertiary signage (if any) will be subject to laws and permitting approvals by the 
District of Columbia. 

Q24) Construction Schedule: Is there a phased construction schedule available? 
Not at this time.  Generally we anticipate construction to commence in the 4th Quarter of 2020. 

Q25) The Site Description states project will deliver in 2022 - is it known what quarter in 
2022? 
If the project commences in the 4th quarter of 2020, we would anticipate that the theater shell 
will be ready for tenant fit out in the summer of 2022. 

Q26) What format should the fit-out plan in the RFP response be? Is a pdf of a fit-out 
sketch sufficient, or is PN Hoffman seeking architectural drawings?   
For the application, a PDF of a fit-out sketch is sufficient.  The organization that is selected will 
be expected to produce detailed architectural drawings later in the process. 
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Q27) Is the Elec/Com Room that cuts into the Arts Space footprint for the Arts Space 
specifically, or is it for the entire building? If it is for the building, can its doors be 
relocated to communicate with Egress/Service corridor? Will anything in this room be 
generating noise? 
The Elec/Com Room shown is serving only the Arts Space and is shown for reference only.  As 
noted in Q19 the tenant will decide the location of their electrical panel as part of their fit-out. 

Q28) Will PN Hoffman require any credit enhancement from the selected tenant (e.g., 
personal guaranty)? 
Yes 

Q29) Is PN Hoffman expecting Base Rent to be at a “market rate”? How will PN Hoffman 
determine what is “market” for a unique use such as a theater? 
The rental rate will be determined through arm’s length negotiations between the developer and 
theater tenant. 

Q30) Does PN Hoffman expect Base Rent to increase annually?  
Subject to lease negotiations. 

Q31) How will Base Rent be determined for the renewal period? 
Subject to lease renewal negotiations. 

Q32) Can TI dollars be used for “soft costs”?  
Subject to lease negotiations. 

Q34) Signage - Would landlord consider a pylon or monument sign at the corner of 4th 
and the private drive for additional advertising/signage for the theater space? 
No. 

Q35) Design / Construction- Please confirm whether there are restrictions to bolt size for 
anchoring to the ceiling slab for lighting/drop ceilings/etc. 
Yes.  Please see Q21 response. 

Q36)  What is the seating capacity? 
See Q2. 

Q37) Is there flexibility in the footprint? Room to expand. 
No.  

Q38) Office space? How much? 
See Q15. 

Q40)  Extensiveness of what they’re expecting for a preliminary fit out plan. What kind of 
resources are they expecting a submitting organization to spend? What kind of drawings 
they need? Is there a two step process- more cursory pieces, and if asked, we can spend 
money on a more detailed fit out plan. 
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We are looking for a test fit for the purposes of spacing.  This would show the way that the 
performance space would be oriented/sized as well as bathrooms and other support spaces (ie 
administrative offices, lobby, etc). See Q26. 

Q41)  Tenant improvement contribution - reimbursement or up front?  
This will be negotiated during the lease negotiations. 

Q42) What is a reasonable base rent?  Can it be zero? 
Please refer to page 18 in the RFP which details that the applicant should submit their desired 
rent. The final base rent will be determined during lease negotiations.  A base rent of zero will 
not be accepted.  

Q43) Which business license are you seeking? DC? MD? VA? 
Please include all business licenses in one pdf. 

Q44) Regarding past programming, would you like a list format? Are you interested in the 
most recent programming or a  selection list?  
Include recent and notable programming.  

Q45) Regarding resumes, are you looking for a full list of work experience or the 
individual's work experience only at the applicant's organization? 
Include full list of work experience.  

Q46) What is the committee most interested in seeing for additional support materials? 
Ideally, evidence of community engagement, press, impact of theater etc. 

Q47) If applicants will plan on sharing space with other organizations as a part of their 
business plan, what information will you require about those other organizations?  
At minimum, name, bio/synopsis of their organization, key staff, address, proposed involvement 
and the financial implications. 

Q48)  Will the theater be on the building’s ground floor?  If not, which floor(s) will it be 
on? 
Yes, it will be on the ground floor. 

Q49)  Will there be an exterior, ground-level loading dock directly into the theater space?  
There will be direct access to the commercial loading area that is connected by a corridor.   

Q50)  Will the exterior of the building have a theater marquee? 
The exterior of the building will have a primary ID sign at the entrance to the theater. 

Q51)  Will the exterior of the building have spaces for theater advertising? 
Without knowing what is specifically planned, we cannot answer the question.  We certainly 
want the theater to thrive and will work together to create an accretive platform within the 
constraints of the building, the PUD Final Order, and other Washington, DC regulations. 

Q52)  Will there be a separate (pedestrian) entrance to the theater? 
Yes. 
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Q53)  Will there be a lobby? Will there be a built-in box office?  Will there be audience 
rest rooms?  If so, how many?  Any handicapped-accessible? Will there be fixed theater 
seating?  If so, what will the seating capacity be?  If not, what will the approximate 
minimum and maximum seating capacity be? How many separate dressing rooms will 
there be? Will there be separate backstage restrooms adjacent to the dressing room(s)? 
Will there be fly space (= space above the stage for scenery to be raised/lowered)?Will 
there be a scenery storage area? Will there be a props and/or costume storage area? Will 
there be a space for building scenery? Will there be a space for building costumes?
Please refer to the CAD and PDF files that show the layout and dimensions of the space. It is up 
to the applicant to determine their own needs for their space. The space will be delivered as a 
cold shell and will not come with standard theatre amenities. It is up to the applying organization 
to determine how the space will be used. Your fit-out plan should include restrooms, a box office 
if your organization needs a box office, dressing rooms if you need dressing rooms etc. 

Q54) What will be the square footage: Of the entire theater? Of the stage? Of the dressing 
room area?  
The entire footprint of the space is approximately 9,000 SQ FT.  Each organization should 
design their sample fit out to accommodate their individual space needs. 

Q55) Is the proposal deadline firm?  
Yes. 

Q56) The RFP says “PN Hoffman may be able to assist with fit out.” By “fit out” do you 
mean test-fit or the actual build out of the interior space? • If the former, could we receive 
resource assistance for the test fit prior to the July 26 deadline? • If you mean build-out, 
what order of magnitude and type of assistance do you mean? How much is PN Hoffman 
willing to put into this re: base rent and tenant improvement allowances?  
By fit-out we mean the actual build out of the interior space. PN Hoffman is willing to put in up to 
$75/ sf. Applicant must propose desired base rent per the application instructions on page 18.  
Due to the number of expected applicants, PN Hoffman cannot provide resources for the test fit. 

Q57) Are the parking spaces free or paid on the weekend and/or evenings? And are there 
other parking options nearby?  
There are hourly public parking spaces available for patrons of all of the ground floor uses 
(including PreK, retail, and residential visitors). There is additional hourly public parking in the 
commercial garage next door that is subject to availability. 

Q58) Would our organization be allowed to sublet the space to other groups for special 
events?  
We are not opposed to a limited number of special events. The details of this arrangement will 
be codified during lease negotiations. 

Q59) Page 5 says there are three performance venues in the pipeline. Can you share what 
these are?  
This is referring to Anthem and Pearl Street Warehouse, along with this Theater space. 

Q60) Does soundproofing need to be installed between theater walls and retail walls? 
What about the ceiling?  
Yes, the tenant will be required to install soundproofing between demising walls and ceiling as 
part of the tenant fit out. 
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Q61) Page 11 talks of “our architect” for the columns. What architect is this in reference 
to?  
We presume the tenant will hire an architect for the build out of the space. If the applicant will 
need assistance identifying an architect, please note this in the application (see page 19).  

Q62) Page 12 mentions the power load requirement for the pre-kindergarten facility. What 
does this mean?  
The reference to “Pre-kindergarten facility” is a typo.  It should read “theater facility”. 

Q63) Page 14 says we should be financially self-sustaining. Exactly what does that 
mean?  
Each organization should provide sufficient financial records and narratives that demonstrate 
the organization’s ability to cover costs associated with occupying and programming the space. 

Q64) Is there rehearsal or office space nearby that would supplement the theater?  
There is no additional space within this project development for office space or rehearsal space. 

Q65) The RFP says we must have regular evening and weekend programming. All the 
time? How many weeks a year? 
The RFP seeks to identify a user who would occupy the space and use it as it’s primary 
presenting performance. Priority will be given to organization who will activate the development 
with regularly scheduled programming however there is no formula for what how much is 
expected or required.
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